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Former Loomshop (building 83) Grid Ref: ST 1282 2139
Tonedale mills NBR: 90889
Wellington

Somerset

Summary

Building 83 (identified on the Insurance block plan, Document 1) is located along
the north side of the main east-west access road into the Tonedale Mills complex.
It had been built by 1839 but may be of early 19th century date and originally
formed part of the boundary of the site. The building has retained its general
external appearance and has high “group value” with other structures in the
centre of the complex. It is one of the earliest extant buildings at the site and
retains evidence of several changes of use. Alterations include the replacement
of the floors and re-siting of doorways. Most of the alterations have resulted from
the building being adapted to serve adjoining buildings which were added in the
mid- and late 19th century, including a beam engine house and extensive weaving
sheds built in several phases. Although it was not powered, the building probably
originally served an ancillary manufacturing function to the main water- and
steam-powered mills, which stand on the opposite side of the road to the south.
Documentary evidence indicates that part of it contained handlooms in the late
19th century and the building has similar characteristics to loomshops which
have been identified in other areas. It is referred to as a loomshop in this report,
although it may also have served additional related functions. Unusually, an intact
handloom remains in situ in the top storey, but is not an original feature. The
building is significant as a surviving early component of the largest integrated
textile mill site in the south-west region.

The building was investigated in June 1998 following requests for information
from English Heritage and Taunton Deane Borough Council. Access was kindly
provided by Mr A. Antonello of Fox Brothers & Co., Ltd.

--000--
Introduction
The loomshop is of three storeys and was built to a long plan of 11 bays; a full-

height 3 bay extension was later added to the east end. Its external dimensions are
29.8 metres by 5.7 metres (see Ground Floor Plan and Cross-Section, attached).
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It is mainly of red brick laid in Flemish bond, but in the rear, north, elevation, the
bottom storey wall is of rubble, as are the end and rear walls of the east extension.
The front, south, elevation has a regular fenestration of rectangular windows with
splayed brick heads. The windows are smaller than those in the larger mills to the
south, which are also shown on the 1839 Tithe Map, but the brickwork and
window heads are similar, indicating that the loomshop is of similar date. The
north side of the original building, which formed part of the boundary wall of the
site, only has regular fenestration to the top storey, with smaller square windows
at eaves height. The gabled roof is slate-covered and is hipped at the later east
end. The building has two main doors in the south elevation, both in the positions
of former windows, and a blocked door in the east end wall. The door in the 4th
bay from the west end enters a through-passage giving access to the later
adjoining weaving shed to the north (77 on block plan). The door in the 6th bay
gives access to a late 19th century staircase (see Cross-Section). The original door
was located in the adjacent bay to the east, which gave access to a staircase in the
same position. Other doors have been inserted and blocked at different dates.

Historical background:

The earliest available reference to the loomshop is the Tithe Map of 1839
(Document 2), although it is possible that other documentary evidence survives
in the extensive archives of Fox Brothers and Co." The building is shown without
the later weaving sheds, engine house and east end extension. The Tithe Map
shows two watercourses which may have influenced the position of the building.
The tailrace from the wheel chamber in the water-powered mill passed close by
the west end and a narrow feeder channel for the canal basin to the north of the
site (not extant) was culverted beneath the west half of the building. There is no

evidence that the loomshop itself was ever water powered.

Powerlooms were first used at Tonedale in 18522 The weaving sheds were added
to the north side of the loomshop and powered from the beam engine house which
was added to the west end. Both the new buildings were described in the 1880s’
and illustrated on the Ordnance Survey 1:2,500 plan of 1890 (Document 3). The
original weaving shed was extended at least once before 1890, in 1884-5% It is
likely that the function of the loomshop was partly altered at this time, to
accommodate ancillary processes for the weaving shed; multi-storeyed ancillary
buildings are commonly seen attached to late-19th century weaving sheds in other
areas. A description of the site in 1883 states that the loomshop (“the old building
by the road”) then contained handlooms in the top storey, a dining room in the
middle storey and a wool store in the bottom storey®. The north side of the
loomshop may also have supported the main drive shaft for the weaving shed (see

below).
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Tonedale Mills saw extensive rebuilding and expansion throughout the second
half of the 19th century, more than doubling the size of the complex. The next
major development to influence the loomshop was the construction in 1897-8 of
a new engine house (the “Iron Duke” engine) in the south-west corner of the
weaving sheds® and the partial rebuilding of the sheds themselves. The earlier
weaving shed beam engine was dismantled at this time. The Iron Duke engine
house, built for a large horizontal tandem engine, remains well-preserved, with
intact engine beds, rope-race and a contemporary generator room (71, 73, 74 on
block plan). An external gallery at first-floor level was added to the north side of
the loomshop at this time; this formed part of the rebuilt weaving shed and may
have been related to the shed’s power transmission system (see below).

From the early 20th century the loomshop has been principally used as a store. A
valuation of the site date 1916 describes two rooms in each of the three storeys’.
The top floor contained the Pattern room and “Store for pickers, including Broad
Hand Pattern Loom”. The middle storey contained a storeroom and a drying
room, and the bottom storey a “Store room for electric fittings”. At the time of
survey the east half of building contained engineering stores in the bottom two
storeys. The top storey includes the handloom and the exceptional survival of an
extensive store of wooden casting patterns for plant and machinery which was
formerly used at the site.

Evidence of original function:

No documentary or physical evidence has been seen of the use of power in the
building, indicating it may have been built for either hand-powered processes or
for storage. In addition, no documentary evidence of its original use is available.
Indirect evidence, however, and comparison with similar buildings in other areas,
suggests that it was probably built for handloom weaving, possibly in
combination with other functions. The absence of wide doorways or of taking-in
doors for the upper storeys suggests that it was probably not built for
warehousing. Its location on the 1839 Tithe Map, close to the powered mills but
on the opposite side of the site to the main entrance, suggests that it was more
likely to have served a function relating to production processes than storage or
warehousing. Other buildings at the site provided warehousing facilities in this
period, notably the range adjoining the east side of the powered mills (10 - 14 on
block plan) and a detached late-18th century building close to the entrance (3 on
block plan). In addition, the regular fenestration of the south elevation indicates
that the original use of the building required good lighting. Workshops built for
hand-powered processes, of similar scale, were a feature of the textile industries
in different parts of England in the late 18th and early 19th century. They were
typically used for handloom weaving, hand spinning or for related processes such
as carding or cloth inspection; such buildings were intended to be flexible and
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were often used for more than one function.

The handloom which survives in the west end bay of the top storey appears to
have been installed for use in the building sometime after the replacement of the
floors and is therefore not original. It is probably the Broad Hand Pattern Loom
mentioned in the 1916 valuation. It is of pegged timber construction and may be
of mid-19th century date. It is not a typical handloom, however, and may have
been used for the production of a specialised fabric; in particular it is unusually
wide, occupying most of the width of the building.

Evidence of development and alterations:

The general arrangement of the original fenestration has been retained, but the
window sills of the south elevation have all been replaced in moulded red brick,
probably of late 19th century date. “Closer” bricks in the jambs do not extend
down to the present level of the sills, suggesting that the window sills may also

have been lowered.

In the original 11 bays the first and second floors have both been replaced at a
higher level. No evidence of a fire or other structural damage has been seen and
it can be surmised that the alteration of the floor levels coincided with a change
of use of the building, possibly when handloom weaving ceased. The plaster on
the side walls and west end wall terminates beneath the present ceiling joists,
indicating the approximate levels of the original ceilings (see Cross-Section). The
ceiling heights of both storeys were increased when the original floors were
replaced. The present floors comprise transverse joists mounted on trimmer
beams along both side walls. The trimmer beams are supported by brick corbels;
the bricks are larger than those used in the external walls. The joists are notably
thin (approximately 4.5cm wide and 25¢m deep), suggesting that the floors were
replaced in the last quarter of the 19th century. They are strengthened by a central

row of cross-bracing.

The roof comprises timber principals with bolted tie-beams, a single row of butt
purlins, short queen struts and a central vertical tie-rod. The tie-beams are located
above the level of the eaves. The purlins are attached to the principals with iron
straps and the apex is supported by a vertical ridge plank. A plaster-on-lath ceiling
is attached to the underside of the rafters. Roof trusses with these features are not
confined to a particular period, and the roof could date from any time between the
early and late 19th century. The trusses do not match the spacing of the 11
original window bays, however, which might indicate that the roof is not original.

Late-19th century tongue-and-groove partitions have been inserted in parts of the
building, particularly in the area of the staircase in the sixth bay from the west end
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(see Cross-Section). This suggests that the building was subdivided to serve a
number of different functions. The staircase itself is of similar date, and was
probably constructed at the same time as the new floors. It may be on the site of
the original staircase, however, since this bay does not have a window in the north

elevation.

The extension to the east end was probably added soon after 1890, since it is not
shown on the 1:2,500 plan of that date (Document 3). The original east end wall
has been removed. The ground floor in the extension is 25cm higher. The south
side wall is thinner than the original wall, with an internal set back. The north side
projects externally beyond the line of the original north wall. The floors of the
extension have slightly thicker joists and the roof trusses do not have vertical
struts; this suggests that the extension was added after the floors in the original
11 bays had been replaced. The north side of the extension was better-lit than the
original part of the building, with pairs of large windows in the upper two storeys,
now blocked.

Beneath the ground floor of the extension is a brick-lined culvert containing a
horizontal drive shaft which appears to be of cast-iron. The shaft is 13.5cm
diameter and is supported on two bearing blocks. The culvert runs from the mill
to the south of the loomshop, beneath the intervening road, and extends beyond
the north side wall where it meets another east-west culvert. The position of the
shaft suggests it linked with the steam-powered main drive shaft of the mill to the
south (see separate report). Its north end was probably bevel-geared to another
shaft in the east-west culvert. This is a rare survival of a mid-19th century main
drive shaft. It indicates the complexity of the evolving power transmission system
at Tonedale Mills in the second half of the 19th century. It is not clear whether it
was powered from the north, from either the weaving shed engine or the Iron
Duke engine, or from the detached engine house alongside the mill to the south.
It may have been added when the weaving shed engine was adapted to power a

newly built spinning mill in 1863 (see below).
The attached beam-engine house:

The engine house attached to the west end of the loomshop is of typical size and
proportions for a mid-19th century single-cylinder beam engine. It was probably
built to power the weaving sheds to the north, but may have been adapted at an
early date to also power the large spinning mill in the western part of the site.
Documentary sources in the Fox archives indicate that the beam engine was
replaced by a horizontal tandem engine in 1886%. The engine house is lit by
narrow arched windows in the west end and north side; other former windows
may have been blocked. It is constructed of slightly larger red brick than the
loomshop and the side walls retain large ashlar blocks indicating the former
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position of the entablature beam. At ground level, the north side also has ashlar
blocks for the main flywheel shaft and a large blocked cast-iron shaft box
indicating where the main drive shaft entered the weaving shed. This box also has
cut-off brackets for a main horizontal drive shaft running east-west along the
south end of the shed; to the east of the engine house this shaft must have been
attached to the north side of the loomshop. Inside the engine house there is no
evidence of the engine itself. The entablature beam, beam floor and engine beds
do not survive. The engine house is still open to the original gabled roof, the tie-
beams of which retain lifting rings used in the installation of the engine. An
unusual feature is a heavy cast-iron beam which spans the window jambs in the
west end. The beam is of I-section with a wider bottom flange. The flange
includes a bolting face for the bearing of a horizontal shaft which probably
extended beyond the west end of the engine house. This shaft may have been
related to the adaptation of the beam engine to power the large spinning mill to
the west, which was built in-line with the engine house in 1863° (69 on Block
Plan). At a later date additional shaft boxes were inserted into the side walls for
a high-level drive shaft which spanned the road to the south. It is not known
whether this shaft was powered from the north or south end.

The attached weaving shed:

As mentioned above, the extensive weaving sheds to the north of the loomshop
have been built in several phases. It is unlikely that any part of the original 1850s
shed roof survives. The south half of the shed, adjoining the loomshop, appears
to have been rebuilt at the same time as the construction of the Iron Duke engine
house to the west, in 1897. This shed was itself later partly rebuilt. The extant
north-light roof (the north-lights actually face east) is of corrugated cement or
asbestos and comprises timber trusses supported by steel beams and cast-iron
columns, suggesting an early or mid-20th century date. The east side wall, of
rubble with external brick pilasters, may be the earliest extant part of the shed,
and appears to be marked on the 1890 1:2,500 plan (Document 3). The northern
half of the shed appears to be earlier, with a slate-covered north-light roof which
may be of late 19th or early 20th date.

Part of the south end of the ¢.1897 weaving shed survives in the form of a gallery
running along the north side wall of the loomshop and the adjoining beam engine
house. This is an unusual feature which may have been a rope race for driving line
shafting in the shed. It is entered through a door inserted into the north side of the
loomshop at first-floor level. The north side of the gallery is formed by the timber
gable ends of the former shed roof; these are symmetrical in shape and located at
a higher level than the extant roof. The wooden panelling used in the gables is
very similar to that which survives in the Iron Duke engine house. The gables
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contain redundant hatches which gave access to the shed roof. The floor of the
gallery is supported by the sawn-off ends of the beams which supported the
former roof.

Investigated by Mike Williams and Barry Jones, 22nd July 1998.

Report and cross-section by Mike Williams, plan by Barry Jones.

RCHME photographic job number 96 / 01963, photographed by James Davies,
7-2-1996.

NOTES

1. Documents relating to the use of the site in the first half of the 19th century are included
in the report on the records of Fox Brothers and Co. by The Royal Commission on
Historical Manuscripts.

2. Fox, C.H., 24.
3.Fox,F.H.,7-8.
4. Fox, F.H,, 10.
5. Fox, F.H,, 8.

6. Fox, F.H., 23.

7. Valuation of Machinery in Buildings I - 54, June 1916, by Eddison, Taylor & Booth of
Huddersfield. Fox archives.

8. In the Fox archives the new engine is mentioned in a letter dated 6-9-1886 from
Timothy Bates & Co., Sowerby Bridge; it is also referred to in a hand-written note in a
copy of Description and Use of McNought’s Improved Indicator......, 1860. This states that
the new engine came into use on 25-7-1886. The valuation of 1916 states that the engine,
by Pollitt and Wigzell, was still in use and was then of 200 IHP.

9. Fox, C.H., 25.
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2. Extract from Tithe Map, 1839, Somerset Records Office.

Lx
3. Extract from Ordnance Survey 1:2,500, Somerset Sheet R(VIIJ 4, surveyed
1886-7, published 1890.



rO08CJI0YUE ¥ 50377
- HNOONOTY

‘sulzoue IoMvNAsHN QIO INOINI

"911 SNOS ¥ wivemy

j JOHSIWOOT

8,

F._mmy&u.EOm :
‘NOLONITTIM
SITIW 3TVA3INOL :

d.L1'0D2% S"Y3HLloYa xO4




N
\
2

/

v
e




s
Tonedale Mills
(Woollen, b Tk
910
1664

o g :
i ]U;'rn'/r f’l-’ff
s i “Groumd

e crenlion X
Ground

e T
-ids

w
. ==

223 -G )

Storehouses\

l‘ '
N-Aqueduct
cfend,

-~
™ a1
g

Station Yard: ~

(Cual, Tl}n_tfr"eir_- 7 -y
: Sa_ur- J@ !
w8

917
9.952

° 02 :
Lo NG
&_,. Weir 5. -

B.M.1854 \ QTN

-




SOUTH ELEVATION, FACING WEST




=
5]
<
s}
O
&
O
<
S
g
:
O
-
a
Q
)
78]
2
o
o
—
i
=
=
g2
78]
D
O
T
<8
=
z
u_b
=
<
53]
8]




LSHM DNIOVA TWOOT NJALLYd ANVH AVOdd "AHIOLS dOL




TOP STOREY PATTERN STORE, FACING EAST




NATIONAL
MONUMENTS

RECORD

—
e
W
et

The National Monuments Record contains
all the information in this report — and more:
original photographs, plans old and new,
the vesults of all RCHME field surveys, indexes of
archaeological sites and historical buildings,
and complete coverage of England
in air photographs.

5
W55 rovaL
COMMISSION
S HISTORICAL

MONUMENTS
“ENGLAND

The Royal Commission on the Historical Monuments of England gathers information on England’s heritage

and provides it through the National Monuments Record

World Wide Web: http://www.rchme.gov.uk
National Monuments Record enquiries: telephone 01793 414600
National Monuments Record Centre, Great Western Village, Kemble Drive, Swindon SN2 2GZ




